
 

 
 

 

CABINET 
 

4.00 pm WEDNESDAY, 20TH NOVEMBER, 2019 
 

COUNCIL CHAMBER 
 

 
 

This Agenda has been prepared by the  
Democratic Services Department. Any member of the public requiring information should 

contact the department on (01685 725284) or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be found 
on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

OPEN SESSION 

Strategic 

3. Revenue Budget Monitoring 2019/20 - Quarter 2   

 To consider report of the Interim Chief Executive 
 

5 - 10 

4. European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018   

 To consider report of the Interim Deputy Chief 
Executive 
 

11 - 14 

5. RE:FIT Cymru Energy Efficiency Framework-
Contract Award  

 

 To consider report of the Chief Officer 
Neighbourhood Services 
 

15 - 18 

Portfolio 

6. CCTV Footprint and Stock   

 To consider report of the Interim Deputy Chief 
Executive 
 

19 - 24 

7. Foster Carers Incentives   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services 
 

25 - 30 

8. Highway Adoption   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer 
Neighbourhood Services 
 

31 - 34 

Information Reports 

9. Children’s Services Post Inspection Action Plan   

 To receive report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services 
 

35 - 42 



CLOSED SESSION 

Exempt 

In order for the following to be considered in private, it is suggested that the 
public be excluded from the meeting on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph/s (14) under Part 4 
of Schedule 12A Section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

10. Capital Budget Monitoring 2019/20 - Quarter 2   

 To consider report of the Interim Chief Executive 
 

43 - 52 

RE-OPEN SESSION 

11. Any Other Business Deemed Urgent by the Chair   

 
 

  
COMPOSITION: Councillors     K O'Neill (Chair) 

                       L Mytton (Vice-Chair)  
  
 Councillors     A Barry, C Davies, D Hughes and 

G Thomas 
 

 together with appropriate officers 
  

 
If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 

democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

 
 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 
 
To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Revenue Budget Monitoring 2019/20 – Quarter 2 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The report details the projected revenue outturn for 2019/20 as at 30th September 

2019, that is the 2nd Quarter, and was considered at Budget Board on 6th November 
2019. 

 
1.2 The report advises Cabinet of the projected outturn position for the 2019/20 financial 

year whilst focusing on projected major budget variances. 
 
1.3 A net revenue deficit of £85,000 is projected for the financial year.  There are 

projected budget deficits within the Social Services Department (£198,000), the 
Community Regeneration Department (£168,000), the Neighbourhood Services 
Department (£235,000), and within the Corporate Authority (£126,000).  These 
pressures are being offset by a projected increased surplus of £341,000 against the 
Council Tax Collection Fund, and £150,000 against the Corporate Vacancy Factor.  

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 The second Revenue Budget Monitoring report for the 2019/20 financial year based 

on 2nd Quarter projections be accepted. 
 
2.2 Budget Virements outlined in Appendix 2 be approved. 
 
2.3 Managers to urgently address projected budget deficits within their respective 

service areas, identifying all possible remedial measures to offset projected deficits, 
be approved.  

 

Date Written 30th September 2019 

Report Author Steve Jones / Ian Kent / Adam Price 

Service Area Finance 

Committee Division Strategic 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 20th November 2019 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2.4 Managers to continue to monitor all revenue budgets and immediately notify the 
Chief Finance Officer of potential financial difficulties, be approved. 

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
   
3.1 Regular planned budget monitoring is crucial in ensuring effective financial 

stewardship and accountability and is governed by the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy’s recommended best working practices. 

 
3.2 It is considered critical that Budget Monitoring arrangements are continually 

reviewed and enhanced to ensure continued effectiveness with robust challenge 
provided by both the Budget Board and the Change and Wellbeing Programme 
Board. 

  
3.3 This report details the net revenue expenditure position for the period 1st April 2019 

to 30th September 2019 (2nd Quarter) and revenue outturn projections for the 
2019/20 financial year, and was considered at Budget Board on 6th November 2019. 

 

4.0 FINANCIAL PROJECTIONS 2019/20 
 
4.1 Detailed in Appendix 1 is the summary Revenue Budget Monitoring statement as at 

30th September 2019, with a net revenue deficit of £85,000 projected for the 2019/20 
financial year. 

 
4.2 Detailed in Appendix 2 are requested Budget virements resulting from budget re-

alignment, required investment and departmental re-configuration. 
 

5.0 MAJOR VARIANCES 
 
5.1 A significant net revenue deficit of £85,000 is projected for the Social Services 

Department.  
 

The Children Looked After - Independent Fostering Agencies budget is projected to 
overspend by £211,000, and the associated Court, Legal and Professional costs 
budget is projected to overspend by £66,000. However, these are being offset by a 
projected underspend of £189,000 in the Children Looked After – In House Fostering 
Service. 
 
The Homes for the Elderly budget is projected to overspend by £306,000 due to a 
reduction of income received from self-funding clients, and the Independent 
Commissioned Day Services budget is projected to overspend by £63,000 due to 
additional packages not known about at budget setting.  The Independent 
Residential Establishments budget is projected to overspend by £355,000 due to the 
current number of residents being more than budgeted. 
 
 
 

Page 6



These pressures are being offset by a projected underspend of £82,000 against the 
Llysfaen Fach Group Home budget, a projected underspend of £128,000 for Adults 
direct payments, and a projected underspend of £301,000 in Independent 
Domiciliary Care. 

 
5.2 A deficit of £168,000 is projected for the Community Regeneration Department. 
 
 The most significant issues are a projected overspend of £46,000 in the Housing 

Renovation Grants budget due to a shortfall in fee income, and a projected 
overspend of £28,000 in the Registrars budget due to a drop in demand for 
certificates following changes to the statutory fee structure. 

 
5.3 A deficit of £235,000 is projected for the Neighbourhood Services Department. 
 

The most significant issues are a projected overspend of £98,000 in the 
Bereavement Services budget due to a shortfall in fee income, and  projected 
overspend of £75,000 in the Corporate Property and Estates budget due to 
additional security costs at Taff and Crescent Street, Merthyr Vale. 

 
5.4 A deficit of £126,000 is projected for the Corporate Authority budget.  
 

The most significant issue is a projected overspend of £228,000 against the Council 
Tax Benefit Payments budget resulting from greater demand.  A decrease in 
budgeted capital financing costs of £101,000, owing to a review of interest rate 
assumptions and slippage within the capital programme, is also projected. 

 
5.5 Additional income of £341,000 in respect of the Collection Fund is projected, 

resulting from increased council tax income together with the impact of the report to 
Council on 16th January 2019 approving the removal of the council tax discount for 
long term unoccupied properties.  In addition a further £150,000 savings than 
budgeted is projected against the Corporate Vacancy Factor. 

 

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 A net deficit budget outturn of £85,000 is projected for 2019/20 based on the 

financial position as at 30th September 2019. 
 

Page 7



7.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 
7.1 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
4 of 4 0 of 4  0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
The main positive impacts are that the report contributes to the financial sustainability of 
the Council and therefore enables the continued delivery of essential Council services. 
 

 
 
ELLIS COOPER 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY 
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Revenue Budget 
Monitoring Working 

Papers 
 

April 2019 to September 
2019 

Accountancy Department 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 8



 

 

General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2019/20 (As at 30 September 2019) Appendix 1

Corporate Summary

30-Jun-19 Vacant 30-Sep-19  

Budget Post Other Budget Outturn

Summary 2019/20 Virements Virements 2019/20 Month 6

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

People and Performance

Social Services 33,365 -202 0 33,163 15,370 33,361 198 0.60

Learning 47,461 -43 0 47,418 45,265 47,408 -10 -0.02

80,826 -245 0 80,581 60,635 80,769 188 0.23

Place and Transformation

Deputy Chief Executive Services 2,231 -23 -35 2,173 1,262 2,182 9 0.41

Community Regeneration 6,233 -37 0 6,196 4,583 6,364 168 2.71

Neighbourhood Services 10,997 -22 -2 10,973 5,733 11,208 235 2.14

Corporate Services 1,646 -55 37 1,628 1,147 1,611 -17 -1.04

Finance 1,380 0 0 1,380 653 1,376 -4 -0.29

Legal 1,487 0 0 1,487 698 1,441 -46 -3.09

Human Resources & Organisational Development 745 0 0 745 271 720 -25 -3.36

Total 24,719 -137 0 24,582 14,347 24,902 320 1.30

Corporate Costs

Corporate Management - Executive 1,432 -38 0 1,394 726 1,374 -20 -1.43

Corporate Authority 18,457 0 -112 18,345 7,873 18,471 126 0.69

Total 19,889 -38 -112 19,739 8,599 19,845 106 0.54

Contributions / Recharges

Non General Fund Allocations -835 0 0 -835 0 -835 0 0.00

Discretionary Non Domestic Rate Relief 94 0 0 94 0 94 0 0.00

Collection Fund Surplus -835 0 0 -835 0 -1,176 -341 40.84

Corporate Vacancy Factor -476 420 0 -56 0 -206 -150 267.86

Contribution from Budget Reserve -1,295 0 0 -1,295 0 -1,295 0 0.00

Contribution from Living Wage Reserve -296 0 0 -296 0 -296 0 0.00

Contribution to/from Corporate Investment Fund -188 0 0 -188 0 -188 0 0.00

Contribution to/from General Reserves -483 0 0 -483 0 -483 0 0.00

Centrally funded Teachers Pension -827 0 112 -715 0 -753 -38 5.31

Total -5,141 420 112 -4,609 0 -5,138 -529 11.48

Net Expenditure 120,293 0 0 120,293 83,581 120,378 85 0.07

Variance

Year End 

Projection

 

P
age 9



 

 

 
General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2019/20 (As at 30 September 2019)

Proposed Budget Virements Appendix 2

Budget

Amount 

£'000 Budget

Amount 

£'000

Cwm Taf Autism Service -40 Independent Commissioned Day Services 40 Realignment of budget to match spend in service

LAC Fostering - In House, Kinship & 

Emergency/Respite Fostering Services

-34 Children Looked After (Court, Legal & 

Professional) Services

34 Realignment of Overarching expenditure to individual lines to clearly identify 

expenditure

Family Centre & Contact Services -467 Children's Social Care 22 Realignment of Overarching expenditure to individual lines to clearly identify 

expenditure

Children in Need -309 Supporting Change Services 754 Service Descriptions need to be updated to match the new terminology and 

teams within the service

Individual Schools Budget (ISB) -45 EOTAS (PRU) Ty Dysgu 45 Part of LRB Transition, surplus from LRB class closed in July 2019 used to

fund additional resourses required in the PRU.

Individual Schools Budget (ISB) -16 Special Needs Advisory  Teachers 16 Budget alignment as part of the LRB transitional arrangements.

Enhanced Provision (Behaviour Support) -9 Psychological Services 9 ALN Admin post moved under Education Psychological Services.

Business Change & Risk Management -18 ICT Computers 18 Transfer of budget relating to regrade of ICT Manager to Head of Service.

Business Change & Risk Management -37 Contact Centre 37 Transfer of budget relating to Customer Services Manager.

Street Cleansing -32 Recycling 32 Redeployment of second Fly Tipping clearance team to support the 

"Keeping up with the Joneses" recycling campaign.

Household Waste Recycling Centres -2 Recycling 2 Transfer of van, which is now being used by the recycling wardens.

Refuse Collection -3 Sustainable Waste Management 3 Transfer budget for bulky green waste income.

Sustainable Waste Management -15 Household Waste Recycling Centres 15 Transfer of budget for food waste haulage contract. Will be provided in-

house from October.

Sustainable Waste Management -13 Street Cleansing 13 Transfer of Sustainable Waste Management Grant budget to reflect new 

grant profile.

Highways Operational -11 Street Lighting 11 Transfer of budget for fleet vehicle to correct budget service area.

Depots -139 Office Accomodation 139 Consolidation of depots and office accomodation budgets.

Corporate Property & Estates -2 ICT 2 GIS mapping now held within ICT.

Levies -112 Centrally funded Teachers/Fire Pensions 112 Funding for the increase in Fire Service pension costs was given directly to 

the fire service, therefore reducing the levy.

Virement From Virement To

Reason for Virement

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 10



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 In preparation for UK’s exit from the European Union Parliament has passed the 

European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018. 
 
1.2 The Act will revoke the European Communities Act 1972 that enabled a number of 

regulations relating to consumer protection matters. 
 
1.3 In order to allow a seamless transition upon leaving the EU the European Union 

(Withdrawal) Act will adopt these regulations into UK legislation. 
 
1.4 The proposal is that the Authority formally adopt the European Union (Withdrawal) 

Act 2018 and in doing so permit the Head of Protection and Safety to authorise 
appropriate officers to enforce such legislation and regulations under the Act. 

 
1.5 It is further proposed to remove the European Communities Act 1972 from the list of 

adopted legislation within the constitution upon the UK exiting the EU. 
 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 The adoption of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 and its inclusion within 

the authorities Constitution be approved. 
 
2.2 Upon exiting the European Union the European Communities Act 1972 is removed 

from adopted legislation within the Constitution be approved. 
 

Date Written 15th October 2019* 

Report Author Paul Lewis 

Service Area Protection and Safety 

Committee Division Regeneration 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 20th November 2019 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 In preparation for UK’s exit from the European Union Parliament has passed the 

European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018. 
 

3.2 The Act will revoke the European Communities Act 1972. This act enabled a number 
of regulations relating to consumer protection matters. 
 

3.3 In order to allow a seamless transition upon leaving the EU the European Union 
(Withdrawal) Act will enshrine these regulations into UK legislation. 
 

3.4 The proposal is that the Authority formally adopt the European Union (Withdrawal) 
Act 2018 and in doing so permit the Head of Protection and Safety to authorise 
appropriate officers to enforce such legislation and regulations made under the Act. 
 

3.5 It is further proposed to remove the European Communities Act 1972 from the list of 
adopted legislation within the constitution upon the UK exiting the EU. 

  
 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
4.1 There are no financial implications. 
 
 
 

5.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
3 of 4 0 of 4 1 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

2 of 5 0 of 5 3 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Page 12



Summary: 
 
The main positive impacts are that the proposal will meet the Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives and the Sustainable Development Principles. The proposal will have a 
positive effect on the ‘Environmental Well Being and ‘Living Well’ objectives. 
 
There are no negative impacts. 
 
 

 

 
ALYN OWEN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION AND PUBLIC 
PROTECTION 

  
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

Yes 

 
 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

RE:FIT Cymru Energy Efficiency Framework-
Contract Award 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The Council adopted the use of the RE:FIT Cymru energy efficiency framework as a 

vehicle to procure a contractor to deliver various energy efficiency and carbon 
reducing measures across the Council estate. 

 
1.2 A tender was published in August 2019 through the RE:FIT framework to appoint a 

contractor.  The evaluations are currently in progress. 
 
1.3 Due to resource issues the evaluation timeline for the procurement process does not 

coincide with the reporting timeline for cabinet, resulting in an award later than 
planned which will have a negative effect on the project deliverable timescale. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 The granting of delegated authority to the Chief Officer Planning & Neighbourhood 

Services and the Chief Finance Officer in consultation with the Portfolio Member for 
the award of the RE:FIT contract, be approved. 

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Carbon Management Plan details that RE:FIT Cymru will be utilised to produce 

a program of energy efficiency projects in a number of our sites. 

Date Written 22nd October 2019* 

Report Author Iain Goldsworthy 

Service Area Neighbourhood Services 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 20th November 2019 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



3.2  RE:FIT is a procurement framework that is designed to support public bodies 
procuring energy efficiency and generation measures, to reduce energy costs and 
resulting carbon footprint. 

  
3.3 RE:FIT started in England in 2008 as a pilot scheme in London and was 

subsequently rolled out to the rest of England in 2009. Refit is therefore established 
and is a tried and tested model. Refit Cymru was launched in 2016 and provides 
guaranteed  savings on energy efficiency measures installed under the Refit 
scheme.  

 
3.4  RE:FIT Cymru is a Welsh Government promoted scheme that aims to accelerate 

`the energy efficiency improvement of all public sector buildings in Wales. Refit 
Cymru gives Welsh public bodies the opportunity to use a UK framework comprising 
16 contractors to improve the energy efficiency of their buildings. Measures such as 
 energy efficient lighting upgrades, boiler system upgrades and fabric insulation are 
 some of sixty three potential measures that could be included within REFIT. Loans 
can be made available for RE:FIT phases that include measures with an overall 8 
year  simple payback through the guaranteed energy savings. It is the appointed 
 contractor that guarantees the savings, over the loan term. The monitoring and 
 verification (M&V) report that they provide alongside their saving predictions 
 specifies an agreed methodology for how the savings are going to be measured. If 
 there is an under performance then the contractor will make payments to the Council 
 against the guarantee. The loans have to be repaid by the Council through the 
 savings over what could be up to a maximum term of 10 years.  

3.5  Assistance in the administration of Refit is provided by the Welsh Government via                 
the REFIT Cymru Project Implementation Unit (PIU), Green Growth Wales and Local 
Partnerships. The support provided by the PIU includes help in securing funding and 
resources, project brief development, delivery of the mini competition process and 
obtaining investment grade proposals. Each of these tasks can be broken down into 
separate activities for which the Council has the option of using the assistance of the 
PIU.  

 
 

4.0 PROCUREMENT PROCESS 
 
4.1 The procurement process was undertaken via a mini competition under the National 

RE:FIT framework. 

4.2 The Council’s requirements were developed into a robust invitation to tender which 
was published via eTender Wales on 30th August 2019. 

4.3 Thirteen providers were invited to the tender process. Nine of those providers 
accessed the tender 

4.4 Three valid tenders were received on the 11th October 2019.  These tenders are 
currently being evaluated. 

4.5 The whole delivery timeline is predicated upon an award on or around the 20th 
November, A delegation of the award decision to specific Chief Officers will provide 
an additional two weeks of evaluation time which will ensure that the Council awards 
the contract in line with the published timeline.  

Page 16



4.6 If delegation is granted then an information report fully informing cabinet of the 
outcome will be provided at the next scheduled Cabinet. 

 
 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
5.1 There are no specific financial implications associated with this report. 
 
 

6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
3 of 4 0 of 4 1 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

4 of 5 0 of 5 1 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

1 of 1 0 of 1 0 of 1 

Summary: 
RE:FIT will assist MTCBC to make energy cost and carbon emission savings through the 
installation of energy efficiency measures. The energy efficiency technologies that deliver 
these savings are readily available, tried and tested, and often repay their initial capital 
cost within just a few years. Such improvements could provide long-term cash savings for 
MTCBC, reduce exposure to future changes in energy costs, improve internal conditions 
for employees, potentially improving the productivity of building occupants and reduce the 
environmental impacts of MTCBC. 
 

 
 
 
JUDITH JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES 

COUNCILLOR D HUGHES 
CABINET MEMBER FOR PLANNING & 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES 
 
 
 

Page 17



BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 18



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

CCTV Footprint and Stock 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 In April 2019, the Authorities CCTV Service moved from the corporate centre to sit 

alongside the Community Safety Service within the Protection and Safety portfolio. 
 
1.2 Since the move a complete review of the CCTV facility has been undertaken with a 

view to modernising the existing stock and assess the placement of cameras. The 
proposed new footprint of cameras are attached as Appendix 1. 

 
1.3 CCTV surveillance can be privacy intrusive. The siting of cameras must be justified, 

necessary and proportionate.  
 
1.4 Consultation with South Wales Police taken place and data analysis obtained to 

assess current hot spot areas for anti-social behaviour and violent assaults. 
 
1.5 Subject to capital funding the new camera footprint will consist of high definition and 

4k technology that will be linked via wireless technology to a base unit. This is a 
considerable improvement on the current outdated analogue cameras currently in 
use. 

 
1.6 By moving to a new footprint and reducing camera coverage there will also be an 

approximate saving of £14,000 per annum on reduced broadband and electricity 
costs. 

 
 

Date Written 14th October 2019* 

Report Author Paul Lewis 

Service Area Protection and Safety 

Committee Division Regeneration 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 20th November 2019 

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 The new CCTV footprint be approved. 
 
2.2 The need to source capital funding required to upgrade existing camera stock be 

approved. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 In April 2019, the Authorities CCTV service moved from the Corporate Centre to sit 

alongside Community Safety within the Protection and Safety portfolio of services. 
 

3.2 A review of the current camera footprint and camera stock has been conducted to 
ascertain whether the system remained fit for purpose. 
 

3.3 The use of surveillance systems can be privacy intrusive. In siting a camera 
authorities must satisfy themselves that the placement of a camera is justified, 
necessary and proportionate. 
 

3.4 An exercise was undertaken with South Wales Police where a detailed analysis of 
anti-social behaviour and violent assaults was mapped across the authority. This 
analysis identified where there was a need for cameras that would meet the legal 
test of necessity and proportionally. The proposed new footprint is attached as 
appendix 1. 
 

3.5 The current camera stock has been assessed with the majority of cameras outdated 
analogue technology. It is proposed to replace the existing-outdated stock with high 
definition and 4k camera technology. 
 

3.6 By upgrading the existing camera stock and moving toward wireless technology 
savings of approximately £14k per annum can be made in reduction of fibre optic 
broadband and electricity costs. 
 

3.7 Moving to the new camera technology will require capital funding of approximately 
£162k.   

  
 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
4.1 If approved potential savings of £14k per annum will be made on reduction of fibre 

optic and electricity costs. 
 
4.2  An initial capital investment of £162k will be needed to move to the new improved 

cameras. 
 
 
 

Page 20



5.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
2 of 4 0 of 4 2 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
The main positive impacts are that the proposal will meet the Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives and the Sustainable Development Principles. The proposal will have a 
positive effect on the ‘Environmental Well Being and ‘Living Well’ objectives. 
 
There are no negative impacts. 
 
 

 
ALYN OWEN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION AND PUBLIC 
PROTECTION 

  
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 

Appendix 1 

 

Camera 
number 

Location  

1 Lower High Street / Fountain 1 

3 

Gillar Street Car Park (remove and replace at new location as 
discucssed) 2 

5 High Street 4 

6 Graham Way 5 

7 Market Square 6 

8 Victoria Street 7 

9 Glebeland Street  8 

10 Castle Street 9 

11 

Upper High Street - Castle Street, Newcastle Street, St David’s 
Church, Library, Vulcan, The Expres 10 

12 

Upper High Street - St. David’s Church to Pontmorlais, 
Wetherspoons 11 

13 Upper High Street - Kebab Shops to Mini Roundabout Pontmorlais 12 

14 Pontmorlais - Flooks, Car Park 13 

15 John Street - Post Office, Tesco Loading Bay, Junction of Tramroad 14 

16 

Civic Centre Car Park - Ty Keir Hardie, Martin Evans House, Civic 
Centre Car Park, Rear Law Courts 15 

17 On Law Court  Side Wall  16 

19 Top Castle Car Park (can we utilise camera that was on 18) 17 

20 Gyratory/Dynevor Street 18 

21 Firestation End of College   

22 Footbridge End of College Car Park 25 

23 Lower End of Extension Car Park, College 26 

24 Top End of Extension Car Park, College 27 

29  Bus StationCastle Street, Wheatsheaf Lane, Bus Station 19 

48 Alder Grove 50 

50 Front of Chestnut Way Shops, Gurnos  51 

53 
Juction of Chestnut Way and Goitre Lane, covering footpath to 1st Avenue, 
Galon Uchaf  52 

54 Opposite Trading Post Galon Uchaf Road, covering Greenie playing fields 53 

56 Swansea Road – Shops area 54 

62 Junction of Sycamore Road and Goitre Lane, Gurnos leading to 4th Avenue 55 

73 Ground Floor – Dome 31 

74 First Floor – Dome 32 

75 Second Floor (Top) – Dome, British Tip 33 

76 Ground Floor (Law Courts End) – Pay & Display Meter 34 

77 First Floor ( Law Courts End) – Pay & Display Meter 35 

78 First Floor ( Law Courts End) – Pay & Display Meter 36 

Page 23



79 Ground Floor (Law Courts End) - Stairwell 37 

80 First Floor (Law Courts End) – Stairwell 38 

81 Second Floor (Law Courts End) – Stairwell 39 

82 Second Floor (BT End) – Stairwell 40 

83 First Floor (BT End) – Stairwell 41 

84 Ground Floor (BT End) – Stairwell 42 

85 Ground Floor Alleyway – Law Court End 43 

86 Ground Floor Alleyway – BT End 44 

87 Treharris Library, Perrot Street 60 

88 Treharris Cardiff Road 61 

90 Treharris bus station 62 

 
Troeydrhiw 
Twyncarmel  

    

Page 24



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Foster Carers Incentives 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 

 
1.1  There is a plan in place to increase the supply of Merthyr Tydfil foster carers.  A 

business case has been developed in consultation with foster carers and relevant 
Council departments. 

 
1.2  Offering foster carers a Council Tax reduction has been successful in recruiting 

foster carers in a number of English and North Wales authorities.  
 
1.3  An analysis of the financial implications has taken place indicating that reducing 

reliance on independent fostering association foster carers would release the funding 
required to invest in this enhanced offer to foster carers. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION that 
 
2.1 The proposal that the Council offer mainstream foster carers living in Merthyr Tydfil a 

Council Tax reduction of 50%, and a detriment payment to Merthyr Tydfil 
mainstream foster carers living outside the Authority, be approved. 

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1  Part 6 of the Social Services and Well-being Act 2014 (Wales) builds on the duty in 

s.75 of the Act which sets out local authorities’ general duty to ensure that they are 
able to provide looked after children with accommodation that is within the local 
authority’s area and that meets the children’s needs. 

 

Date Written November 2019* 

Report Author Annabel Lloyd 

Service Area Children’s Services  

Committee Division Cabinet 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt  

Committee Date 20th November 2019 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



3.2  In pursuit of improving our local sufficiency of suitable placements, Children’s 
Services have developed a Placement Commissioning Strategy.  The action plan 
linked to this strategy includes work that is under way to increase the supply of 
Merthyr Tydfil foster carers.  This is necessary because the insufficient supply of 
Merthyr Tydfil foster carers has led to reliance on independent fostering agencies 
and out of county placements.  Acknowledging some positive outcomes for young 
people in independent foster placements, reliance on independent fostering 
agencies (IFAs) at the current rate is unsatisfactory in terms of both placement 
location and cost to the Council.  

  
3.3  As part of our attraction campaign, a business case has been developed that 

extends our offer to foster carers to include Council Tax reduction. 
 

4.0 THE BUSINESS CASE 
 
4.1 The purpose of the business case is to provide information to explore the 

development of the fostering service by providing foster carers with benefits that 
would increase the supply of Local Authority foster carers and reduces reliance on 
higher cost independent foster cares by: 

 

 Encouraging people to become foster carers. 

 Attract experienced foster carers to become Merthyr Tydfil foster carers. 

 Retain existing foster carers within Merthyr Tydfil. 
 
4.2  In order to continually increase the number of Local Authority foster carers and to 

compete with the IFAs, we need to develop an offer for our potential and current 
foster carers.  Experience of IFAs has told us that whilst they cannot be beaten on 
price alone, there are things that we as a Local Authority can offer, that they simply 
cannot provide and it is these areas that we need to explore in order to set our offer 
apart from other agencies.  

 
4.3  Council Tax reduction schemes have been effective in England and some North 

Wales authorities who are seeking to recruit foster carers.  From analysing the 
annual cost of external placements for children and young people it is evidential that 
local authorities are able to save a significant cost by deducting Council Tax bills 
from in-house foster carers.  Moreover some of this saving can then be invested in 
foster carer retention activity and to further recruitment and advertising. 

 
4.4  MTCBC’s current foster carer offer includes the following benefits: 
 

 Weekly financial allowances for both the foster carer and the child they have 
placed with them. 

 Comprehensive training programme, including the ‘Skills to Foster’ course and 
access to a wide range of professional qualifications and development 
opportunities. 

 A social worker specifically allocated to the foster carer that will visit regularly. 

 Support from other foster carers, professionally and socially, including mentoring 
and coffee mornings. 

 Out of hours support from the Emergency Duty Team. 

Page 26



 Membership of the Fostering Network, which is a national network of foster 
carers and the children they support.  

 Free leisure membership for the foster carer, a partner (or friend) and the 
children.  

 Free discount card to get exclusive discounts in local shops, restaurants and on 
days out. 

 
4.5  A consultation with foster carers took place during June 2019.  The responses 

highlighted what carers would like to see included in any future offer to foster carers 
and overwhelmingly a reduction in council tax came out as the highest response rate 
in addition to discount cards, uniform subsidy, increased allowances and free car 
parking in town centres. 

 
4.6  Council tax exemptions have already been implemented within MTCBC.  MTCBC 

demonstrate their responsible approach to corporate parenting by supporting care 
leavers to get the best start in life and support transitions into independent living.  In 
April 2018 MTCBC introduced the Council Tax discretion discount for care leavers 
after identifying highlighted difficulties care leavers face within the ‘Hidden Ambitions’ 
report.  MTCBC have criteria in place for this to identify eligible care leavers.  

 
4.7  To provide an incentive to recruit and retain foster carers it is proposed that MTCBC 

implement a 50% reduction in council tax for all MTCBC foster carers as well as 
continuation of the current offer benefits as part of the wider MTCBC foster carer 
offer.  

 
4.8   It is proposed that in order to aid with the recruitment of mainstream carers that this 

council tax reduction is only available to those foster carers who are eligible for a fee.  
The definition of this demographic of carer would be “Any foster carer who 
demonstrates the skills and abilities to be approved to care for any child the 
local authority matches to them.” If any current carers that do not currently 
receive a fee (those foster carers who are approved to care only for a connected 
child) wish to be assessed to receive one, MTCBC will not discriminate and will 
follow the same recruitment and assessment procedure as they do for any new 
application to foster.  This means that the offer would not be available to kinship 
careers who care for a connect child who is likely to be a relative. 

 
4.9  To ensure equity across mainstream carers, including those living on the border of 

MTCBC but in other Local Authorities, it is proposed that a detriment payment is 
made in lieu of the council tax reduction to MTCBC foster carers not living within 
Merthyr Tydfil. 

 
4.10  Following consultation with the Council’s lead officer for council tax, subject to 

Cabinet decision, the project could be delivered through existing systems within the 
council tax department with the support of the Fostering Service.  Systems would 
need to be established, following agreement of the project proposal, to ensure a 
smooth process for foster carers and colleagues within the council tax department 
and a policy would need to be drafted explaining the constraints and benefits of the 
project. 

 

Page 27



4.11  A comprehensive marketing plan will be delivered by the Regional Marketing Officer 
to ensure existing foster carers and potential new applicants are made aware of the 
proposal.  An implementation would be developed by the Regional Development 
Manager for Fostering Services to ensure project delivery within the timescales. 

 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 As at 31st March 2019 the number of children placed with IFA carers was 45, 

including 4 placed within the boundaries of Merthyr Tydfil and 41 placed outside the 
boundaries of Merthyr Tydfil 

 
5.2  In Merthyr Tydfil, Local Authority foster carers are on average paid fees and 

allowances of £342 per week (approximately £17,784 per annum).  In comparison 
the average cost of an IFA placement is £754.60 per week (approximately £39,239 
per annum).  This constitutes a difference of £21,455 per annum per child placed. 

 
5.3  The full business case includes a detailed analysis of the financial implications of 

offering mainstream foster carers Council Tax reduction.  In summary, based on a 
calculation dividing the total cost of council tax discount by the difference between 
placing a child in house and using an IFA placement annually (£21,455); the table 
below shows how many placements we would need to bring in house, rather than 
using IFA’s to establish a net saving to the Authority. 
 

 

Percentage 
of discount 
offered 
 

Total cost of Council 
Tax Charge for current 
MTCBC foster carers 
at July 2019 

Number of Children needed to 
house in LA placements as 
opposed to IFA’s in order to save. 

100% £63,139.07 
 

3 

50% £31,569.54 
 

2 

25% £15,784.77 
 

1 

 
5.4  As the supply of Merthyr Tydfil foster carers increase, so the Council will need to 

review the staffing establishment in the fostering team to ensure that high quality 
support can be stepped up in line with the increase in foster carers.  The reduction in 
demand from IFAs will facilitate investment in fostering retention should the increase 
in Merthyr Tydfil foster carers require this.  Work is under way to understand the 
tipping point for the cost benefit in order to ensure that there is no uncontrolled 
growth.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
6.1   

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
5 of 10 0 of 10 5 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
The main positive impacts are collaboration, long term planning and improvement to the 
best start in life for children who are looked after.  
 
No negative impacts have been identified. 
 

 
LISA CURTIS JONES  
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES) 

COUNCILLOR CHRIS DAVIES 
                 CABINET MEMBER FOR 

SOCIAL SERVICES 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Full Business Case  October 2019 Unit 5 
  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 
 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Highway Adoption 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The attached Table in Appendix 1outlines highways that have been constructed as 

part of a housing development in the County Borough. The table also includes the 
final inspection dates of each development. 

 
1.2 The highways have been inspected by the Highways Officer and have been 

constructed to the standards that enable the Council to adopt them as highways 
maintainable at public expense.  

 
1.3 In the event that Cabinet accept the recommendation in 2.1 below, notices will be 

displayed in the relevant locations declaring that the highways will be maintainable at 
public expense should no valid objections be received within one month of the date 
advised within the notice. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 The adoption of the streets as detailed in the Table in Appendix 1, under the 

Highways Act 1980 Section 38 and 228, be approved. 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The attached Table outlines highways that have been constructed as part of a 

housing development within the County Borough. The final inspection dates are 
shown within the Table in Appendix 1. 

Date Written 4th  October 2019* 

Report Author Gerald Coughlan 

Service Area Neighbourhood Services 

Committee Division Portfolio 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 20th November 2019 

Page 31

Agenda Item 8



3.2 The highways have been inspected by the Highways Officer and have been 
constructed to the standards that enable the Council to adopt them as highways 
maintainable at public expense. 
 

3.3 In the event that Cabinet accept the recommendation in 2.1 above, notices will be 
displayed at relevant locations declaring them to be maintainable at public expense 
should no valid objections be received within 1 month of the date advised within the 
Notice.  

 
 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)  
 
4.1 Following the adoption of the streets in this report:- 
 

a) The Welsh Government will be informed of the change in County Borough 
highway lengths and the un-hypothecated funding system via future Standard 
Assessments (SSA) adjusted accordingly. 
 

b) On adoption, the highways will be immediately maintainable at public expense 
for which funding will need to be found from the highways revenue budget in 
future years and as such will require re-alignment of the MTFP to reflect this. 

 
c) Prior to receipt of future Welsh Government funding any remedial works will be 

funded from the current highways maintenance budget.   
 
4.2      Amendments to Welsh Government records submitted annually, relate to the 

changes in the County Borough highway lengths and will result in changes to the 
funding stream via the Standard Spending assessment procedure. Increased 
adopted highway lengths result in increased funding from Welsh Government.      

 
5.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT     
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
3 of 10 0 of 10 7 of 10 

Page 32



4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
The main positive impacts are:  
 
The Well Being objectives are that the proposal provides additional footway/highway 
networks for the benefit of the public of all ages that will assist in developing the 
environment and safer communities and supporting people.  
 
The Sustainable Development Principles are that the proposal will give opportunity to 
encourage more activity that leads to better physical health, promoting healthier 
behaviours and increased levels of physical activity. More physical activity will result in 
lesser dependency in motorised transport.  
 
No negative impacts have been identified against the Well-Being Objectives, the 
Sustainable Development Principles, Protected Characteristics, Welsh Language and 
Biodiversity. 
 
 

 
 

 
JUDITH JONES  
CHIEF OFFICER NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES 

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES  
CABINET MEMBER FOR PLANNING & 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33



Appendix 1 - Highways Act 1980 (Sections 38 and 228) and Local Government Act 1972 Section 111 – 
Adoption of Streets Following Completion of Developments 

 
 
 
 
 

Road/Street 
Name 

 
 
 
Verge 

 
 
 
Area 
Sq.m 

 
Lengths 

 
 
 
H A 
Section 

 
 
No of 
S/L 
Cols. 

 
 
 
No of 
gullies 

 
 
 
Date of 
inspection 

 
Widths (m) 

          

<5.5m 5.5m 6m <7.3m >7.3m Steps c/way f/w’s Layby 
 

total 

Waunwyllt 
Court 
Abercanaid 

 854 0 0 0 16 88 38 5 13 20-09-19 0 7.5 1.8 
 

0 104 

Mount View 
Merthyr Vale 

 223 119 
 
 

0 15 0 0 38 0 4 12-09-19 0 7.0 1.8 0 15 

Cyfarthfa 
Mews 
Gellideg Estate 
 

 1584 66 0 0 0 161 38 5 13 02-10-19 0 5.5 1.8 0 161 

Cae Mari Dwn 
HS - Penyard 
Link (1) 
 

 941 0 0 0 0 58 
 

220 12 19 17-10-19 0 7.3 2.0 2.9 58 

Cae Mari Dwn 
HS – Penyard 
Link (2) 
 

 961 0 0 0 0 85 220 0 0 17-10-19 0 7.3 2.0 0 85 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 34



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET – INFORMATION REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Children’s Services Post Inspection Action Plan 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 This report provides cabinet with information about the Merthyr Tydfil Children‟s 

Services Post Inspection Action Plan 
 
 

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) undertook an inspection of services for children in 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (CBC) during April and May 2018.  
 
3.2 The inspection focused on the effectiveness of local authority services and 

arrangements to help and protect children and their families including:  
 

 the experience and progress of children on the edge of care, children looked after 
and care leavers including the quality and impact of prevention services, the 
effectiveness of decision-making, care and support and pathway planning; 

 the arrangements for permanence for children who are looked after and children 
who return home including the use of fostering, residential care and out of local 
authority area placements; and 

 the quality of leadership, corporate parenting and governance arrangements in 
place to determine, develop and support service sufficiency and delivery 
particularly in relation to looked after children, care leavers and their families. 

 
 
 
 

Date Written November 2019* 

Report Author Annabel Lloyd 

Service Area Children‟s Services  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 20th November 2019 

Page 35

Agenda Item 9



 
3.3 While the main focus of the inspection was on the progress and experience of 

children and young people looked after and care leaver‟s transition into adulthood, 
the inspection included a focus on children, young people and their family‟s 
engagement with:   

 

 Information, advice or assistance (IAA), preventative services; 

 Assessment/reassessment of needs for care and support and care and support 
planning; and 

 Child protection enquiries, procedures, urgent protective action, care and support 
protection plans. 

 
3.4 Inspectors read case files, interviewed staff and administered a staff survey and 

interviewed managers and professionals from partner agencies.  Inspectors talked to 
children and their families wherever possible.  Young people and care leavers 
attended two focus groups. 

 
3.5  On 30th August 2018, CIW published their report having identified the following 

strengths and areas for development or improvement: 
 

Strengths   Dedicated workforce, committed to promoting best outcomes. 

 Safeguarding procedures and processes were understood and 
followed by staff. 

 There is good corporate support for children‟s services from elected 
members and the wider council. 

 The Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) delivers an integrated 
approach. 

 Recognition of work invested in making the changes required by the 
Social Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act 2014. 

 Judgements on eligibility are clear. 

 Inspectors recognised that the management team were alert to 
pressure areas and had developed plans for implementation to 
address those areas and were bring supported by the wider council 
in that. 

 Considerable focus on strengthening preventative support for 
families. 

 Good evidence of partnership working with the third sector with 
examples of support and advice for parenting especially with fathers 
through the “DADS programme”. 

 Positive practice where children and young people were proactively 
engaged in producing their assessments (but consistency required). 

 Children with disabilities - CIW reviewed a small number of 
assessments but those seen were of a good quality.  Evidence was 
also seen of the offer to parent/carers of carer‟s assessments. 

 Inspectors saw evidence of care and support plans being developed 
in a timely manner and reviewed in accordance with requirements. 
We saw some very good examples with clear analysis, in-depth risk 
assessments, transfer or closure summaries and management 
oversight was evident in the files (but needs to be consistent). 

Page 36



 Inspectors saw joint work with partners such as Youth Offending 
Service, substance misuse agencies and education services in 
supporting older children to remain at home. 

 Good evidence of the young persons and families‟ contribution to 
outcome focused plans that with intensive support and a multi -
agency response prevented young people becoming looked after. 

 Efficient mechanisms in place including panel and Public Law 
Outline to ensure timely effective decision making. 

 Inspectors saw evidence of working with partners to develop 
therapeutic services, improved life journey work and improved 
housing and employment options for looked after children.  

 Overall, services were delivered by a competent well qualified work 
force that was committed to achieving good outcomes for children 
and families.  Despite financial and resource pressures, teams were 
focused on the stability, safety and wellbeing of looked after 
children, care leavers and their families. 

Areas for 
development 

1. Improve arrangements for transfer of cases from Intake. 
2. Greater consistency in the quality of assessments including detailed 

analysis of strengths and risks. 
3. Further development of Pathway Planning to meet the requirement 

of the Social Services and Well Being (Wales) Act 2014 (SSWBA), 
particularly in relation to Personal Advisors and When I am Ready 
guidance. 

4. Further work is required to ensure partner agencies have a clear 
and shared understanding of significant harm when making 
referrals to the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub. 

5. Further development is required to embed the risk management 
model and the multi-agency risk assessment form (MARAF) with 
staff and partners, with assurance mechanisms to ensure 
compliance, quality and impact of services to young people and 
families. 

6. Ensure strategic plans are owned and understood by staff and are 
used to drive practice.  

7. Further work is required to develop a more comprehensive quality 
assurance system that strengthens the link between strategy and 
improving practice.  This should also include improved focus on the 
frequency, consistency and quality of front line supervision.  

8. Continue to prioritise the workforce strategy to focus on staff 
retention and the timely recruitment of experienced staff.  

9. Review panel arrangements to ensure there is clarity of purpose, 
timeliness of decision making and engagement from partners. 

10. There is a need to strengthen the transfer of cases between teams. 
The development of a formal transfer policy is currently being 
undertaken and this needs to be embedded throughout practice 
and monitored as part of the quality assurance framework. 

 
 
 
 

Page 37



4.0  POST INSPECTION ACTION PLAN 
 
4.1  The post inspection action plan can be found at Appendix 1.  Some work will be 

carried forward under Merthyr Tydfil Children‟s Services Quality Assurance 
Framework.  

 
4.2  CIW carried out focussed activity on site in August 2019 looking at the post 

inspection action plan.  There will not be a published report however there has been 
a letter outlining CIW findings which includes the following observations: 

 

Strengths  Areas for Development  

 There were some improvements in the 
quality of assessments since the last 
inspection. These improvements had 
taken place following a detailed 
improvement plan by senior managers 
who demonstrated a commitment to 
ongoing improvement in analysis within 
assessments.   

 Staff we spoke to were positive about 
both their support and training, the 
culture within teams and the accessibility 
of managers and senior managers 

 We found improvements in the standard 
of assessments since CIW‟s inspection in 
May 2018, particularly in relation to 
personal outcomes. These improvements 
had been brought about by senior 
managers‟ action plans that included a 
range of measures, including the 
introduction of a „one-minute guide to 
assessment‟ and specific training 
delivered on a regional basis 

 In case file sampling we saw some good 
examples of multi-disciplinary work with 
Health, Education and Police. 

 People who had received an assessment 
told us that they were happy with the 
response they received – and they were 
happy with the personal outcomes 
identified via the assessment process. 
People also told us that they appreciated 
the time that social workers spent with 
children. 

 Continue to review case-load numbers of 
social workers. There was variability in 
the case-loads of some teams. We were 
told that for one social worker in one 
team the case-load was high at 31 and 
for another it was 20. The head of 
service told us that she was undertaking 
work looking at resolving the issue of 
high case-loads 

 Continue to ensure that planned 
improvements to assessments are 
effectively implemented, alongside the 
planned improvements to the 
management and monitoring of 
assessments 

 Some staff told us that formal 
supervisions were not always taking 
place because of the volume of work. 
Although these are booked every month 
sometimes it had not been possible for 
them to take place. 

 Need to continue the quality assurance 
work underway to achieve consistently 
good standards in manager sign off of 
assessments, and sharing / discussing 
assessments with families. 

 The provision of the active offer of Welsh 
was not always recorded on casefiles to 
evidence that this was taking place. 
Senior managers may wish to consider 
how to ensure that practice is in line with 
Welsh Government guidance More Than 
Just Words. 

 
4.3  The August CIW letter will be brought to our quality assurance framework meeting 

where managers will progress the areas for improvement.  
 

Page 38



5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 All of the work outlined above, has been carried out within existing budgetary limits.  
 

6.0  INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

6.1 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
 4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
0 of 10 0 of 10  10 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1  0 of 1  1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
The main positive impacts are the development and improvement of services for children 
and young people.  
 
There are no negative impacts. 
 

 
 
LISA CURTIS JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)  
 

COUNCILLOR CHRIS DAVIES 
CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 

SERVICES 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Previous Committee 
Report CIW Children‟s 
Services  

Various Unit 5  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 39



Appendix 1 
 

CIW Area for Improvement  Outcome  What needs to happen? By who and 
by when? 

BRAG  Update / review  

1.Improve arrangements for 
transfer of cases from  Intake  
 
10. There is a need to 
strengthen the transfer of 
cases between teams. The 
development of a formal 
transfer policy is currently 
being undertaken and this 
needs to be embedded 
throughout practice and 
monitored as part of the quality 
assurance framework. 
 

 Manageable caseloads 

 No delay in transfer 

This has been achieved 
under the Prevention of 
Delays in Allocations 
process implemented 
ahead of the inspection, 
accompanied by improved 
working with Agency 
provider. But we will:   
 

 Review The Case 
Transfer Policy  

PO for EH 
and W-B 
 
01.11.18 

 08.05.19 Update: 
No further delays in 
transfer reported to 
Children‟s Services 
Management Team  

2. Greater consistency in the 
quality of assessments 
including detailed analysis of 
strengths and risks 

 

 Practice standards in 
assessment  and 
analysis are 
documented and 
understood 

 Staff are trained and 
supported to achieve  
these standards  

 Managers support 
consistency in their 
sign off 

 Assessment quality 
improves and greater 
consistency  

 

 Quality Assurance 
group will oversee 
development of a 
guide to staff  about 
assessment  and 
analysis – setting out 
what good looks like 

 Quality Assurance 
group will develop a 
standard  tool to inform 
manager sign off 

 Quality Assurance 
Group will provide  
training colleagues 
with a training needs 
analysis for 
commissioning future 
training and coaching. 
 

Chair of QA 
Group 
 
01.02.19 

 08.05.19 Update: 
Completed and agreed 
 
 
 
 
 
08.05.19 Update: 
Completed and agreed 
 
 
08.05.19 Update: 
Carry forward as part of 
EOC Action Plan 

P
age 40



3.Further development of 
Pathway Planning to meet the 
requirement of the Social 
Services and Well Being 
(Wales) Act 2014 (SSWBA), 
particularly in relation to 
Personal Advisors and When I 
am Ready guidance 
 

 Care Leavers  are 
supported by personal 
advisers  from 16 
years 

 Care Leavers report  
satisfaction with the 
support  

 Increased numbers of 
Care Leavers are in  
stable 
accommodations, 
employment, 
education and training 

 Business case to 
improve the 
specification and 
enhance the provision 
to include 16 +  PA 
support 

 Review When I am 
Ready publication with  
care leavers,  staff and 
providers and re-
launch 

PO 
Permanence  
 
01.12.18 

 08.05.19 Update: 
When I‟m Ready 
guidance requires review 

4.Further work is required to 
ensure partner agencies have 
a clear and shared under-
standing of significant harm 
when making referrals to Multi 
Agency Safeguarding Hub 

 Information sharing in 
C1 is timely and 
appropriate 

 Partners are clear and  
can access information 
and advice  

 Discussion with 
partners about this at 
Safeguarding  Board 
on 27.09.18 

PO for 
Safeguarding  
 
01.12.18  

 08.05.19 Update: 
Complete 

5. Further development is 
required to embed the risk 
management model and the 
multi-agency risk assessment 
form (MARAF) with staff and 
partners, with assurance 
mechanisms to ensure 
compliance, quality and impact 
of services to young people 
and families. 
 

 Consistent approach to 
assessment and 
management of risk 

 

 Practitioner led 
programme of peer 
support groups  is 
established 

 The MARAF will be 
included in all case 
audits. 

 Managers meet to 
discuss outcomes of 
the peer support 
groups to consider 
further learning and 
impact of the MARAF. 

 Independent Chairs 
will  monitor at Child 
Protection Conference, 
giving early alert to PO 
of any lapse 

PO for EH 
and W-B and 
PO for 
Safeguarding  
 
31.03.19 

 08.05.19 Update: 
Review reported to 
Safeguarding Board 
Quality Assurance Sub 
Group.  Future work in  
Merthyr Tydfil Children‟s 
Services Quality 
Assurance  Action Plan 

P
age 41



6.Ensure strategic plans are 
owned and understood by staff 
and are used to drive practice  
 

 Staff  contribute to staff 
briefings where we 
develop our service 
strategy 

 

 Continue staff briefings  

 Develop a one minute 
guide for staff 
meetings  

Head of 
Service  
 
01.12.18 

 08.05.19 Update: 
Complete (Staff Briefing 
Jan 19) 

7. Further work is required to 
develop a more comprehensive 
quality assurance system that 
strengthens the link between 
strategy and improving 
practice. This should also 
include improved focus on the 
frequency, consistency and 
quality of front line supervision. 

 Practice continues to 
improve 

 We understand service 
user experience  and 
how to improve 
outcomes  

Quality assurance 
Framework is signed off 
and being implemented. 

  08.05.19 Update: 
Complete.  (QA Action 
Plan going forward) 

8. Continue to prioritise the 
workforce strategy to focus on 
staff retention and the timely 
recruitment of experienced 
staff.  
 

 MT Children‟s Services 
is an attractive place to 
work and develop 

Workforce strategy has 
been signed off and will 
continue to be developed. 

HR  
Workforce 
Adviser  

 08.05.19 Update: 
Complete. (Workforce 
Strategy reviewed 
prioritised in CSMT Dev 
Session on the 10.5.19) 

9. Review panel arrangements 
to ensure there is clarity of 
purpose, timeliness of decision 
making and engagement from 
partners. 
 

 One Multi –agency 
panel to coordinate 
work  

 Revised terms of 
reference to be 
developed and agreed 

 Revised Panel 
arrangements to be 
implemented 

Head of 
Service  
 
01.12.18 

 08.05.19 Update: 
Complete 

 
 
 
 

P
age 42



Document is Restricted

Page 43

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Revenue Budget Monitoring 2019/20 - Quarter 2
	4 European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018
	5 RE:FIT Cymru Energy Efficiency Framework-Contract Award
	6 CCTV Footprint and Stock
	Appendix 1

	7 Foster Carers Incentives
	8 Highway Adoption
	9 Children’s Services Post Inspection Action Plan
	10 Capital Budget Monitoring 2019/20 - Quarter 2

